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COMES NOW Plaintiff, Samina K. Yasmin (“Plaintiff”), individually and as rep-

resentatives of a Class of Participants and Beneficiaries of the General Mills 401(k) 

Plan (the “Plan” or “General Mills Plan”), by her counsel, WALCHESKE & LUZI, LLC, 

and MILLER & STEVENS, P.A., as and for a claim against Defendants, alleges and 

SAMINA K. YASMIN, individually, and as a 
representative of a Class of Participants and 
Beneficiaries of the General Mills 401(k) 
Plan, 
 

  Plaintiff, 
 

vs. 
 
GENERAL MILLS, INC., 
 
    and 
 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF GENERAL  
MILL, INC., 
 
  and 
 
BENEFITS FINANCE COMMITTEE OF GEN-
ERAL MILLS, INC., CHRISTOPHER 
BRUNSON, 
 

Defendants 
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asserts to the best of her knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry 

reasonable under the circumstances, the following: 

INTRODUCTION  

1.  Under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”), 29 

U.S.C. § 1001 et seq., plan fiduciaries must discharge their duty of prudence “with 

the care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that 

a prudent man acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in 

the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with like aims.” ERISA Section 

404(a)(1)(B), 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B).  

2.  The ERISA fiduciary duty of prudence governs the conduct of plan fidu-

ciaries and imposes on them “the highest duty known to the law.” Donovan v. Bier-

wirth, 680 F.2d 263, 272 n. 8 (2d Cir. 1982.)   

3.  The law is settled under ERISA that, “a categorical rule is inconsistent 

with the context-specific inquiry that ERISA requires,” Hughes v. Northwestern 

Univ., 142 S. Ct. 737, 739 (2022), and “[a] plaintiff may allege that a fiduciary 

breached the duty of prudence by failing to properly monitor investments and remove 

imprudent ones.” Id. (citing Tibble v. Edison Int’l, 575 U.S. 523 (2015).) 

4.  Even in a defined contribution plan in which participants are responsi-

ble for selecting their plan investments, ERISA Section 404(c), 29 U.S.C. § 1104(c), 

“plan fiduciaries are required to conduct their own independent evaluation to deter-

mine which investments may be prudently included in the plan's menu of options.” 

See Hughes, 142 S. Ct. at 742 (citing Tibble, 575 U.S. at 529–530) (emphasis added.) 
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“If the fiduciaries fail to remove an imprudent investment from the plan within a 

reasonable time,” fiduciaries “breach their duty [of prudence].” Id.  

5.  Defendants, General Mills Inc. (“General Mills”), the Board of Directors 

of General Mills Inc. (“Board”), the Benefits Finance Committee of General Mills Inc. 

(collectively “Defendants”), and Christopher Brunson as the Vice President of Total 

Rewards at General Mills and Plan Administrator, are ERISA fiduciaries as they ex-

ercise discretionary authority or discretionary control over the 401(k) defined contri-

bution pension plan – known as the General Mills 401(k) Plan (the “Plan” or “General 

Mills Plan”) – that it sponsors and provides to its employees.  

6.  During the putative Class Period (October 14, 2016, through the date of 

judgment), Defendants, as fiduciaries of the Plan, as that term is defined under 

ERISA Section 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A), breached the duty of prudence they 

owed to the Plan by requiring the Plan to “pay[ ] excessive recordkeeping fees,” 

Hughes, 142 S. Ct. at 739-740, and by failing to remove their high-cost recordkeeper, 

Aon Consulting Inc./Alight Solutions (“Alight”).  

7.  These objectively unreasonable recordkeeping fees cannot be contextu-

ally justified, and do not fall within “the range of reasonable judgments a fiduciary 

may make based on her experience and expertise.” See Hughes, 142 S. Ct. at 742.  

8.  Defendants breached their fiduciary duty of prudence by causing the 

Plan participants to pay excessive recordkeeping and administrative (RKA) fees. 

9.  Defendant General Mills also engaged in self-dealing in violation of 

ERISA’s duty of loyalty, Section 404(a)(1)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(A), and fiduciary 
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prohibited transaction provisions, Section 406(b)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1106(b)(1), with re-

gard to providing superfluous “plan administrator” services to the Plan and paying 

itself illicitly with plan assets. 

10.  Defendants unreasonably failed to leverage the size of the Plan to pay 

reasonable fees for Plan RKA services. 

11.  ERISA’s duty of prudence applies to the conduct of the plan fiduciaries 

in negotiating RKA fees based on what is reasonable (not the cheapest or average) in 

the applicable market. 

12.  There is no requirement to allege the actual inappropriate fiduciary ac-

tions taken because “[i]t would be perverse to require plaintiffs bringing [ERISA] 

claims to plead facts that remain in the sole control of the parties who stand accused 

of wrongdoing.” See Braden v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 588 F.3d 585, 602 (8th Cir. 

2009). 

13.  The unreasonable RKA fees paid inferentially and plausibly establishes 

that an adequate investigation would have revealed to a reasonable fiduciary that 

the Plan services, given their level and quality, were improvident.  

14.  These breaches of fiduciary duty, and violation of the prohibited trans-

action provisions, caused Plaintiff and Class Members millions of dollars of harm in 

the form of lower retirement account balances than they otherwise should have had 

in the absence of these unreasonable Plan fees and expenses. 

15.  To remedy these fiduciary breaches and prohibited transactions, Plain-

tiff brings this action on behalf of the Plan under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(2) to enforce 
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Defendants’ liability under 29 U.S.C. § 1109(a), to make good to the Plan all losses 

resulting from these breaches.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE  

16.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction in this ERISA matter under 

28 U.S.C. § 1331 and pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 1332(e)(1), which provides for federal 

jurisdiction of actions brought under Title I of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq.  

17.  This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they 

transact business in this District, reside in this District, and have significant contacts 

with this District, and because ERISA provides for nationwide service of process.  

18.  Venue is appropriate in this District within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. 

§1132(e)(2) because some or all of the violations of ERISA occurred in this District 

and Defendants reside and may be found in this District.  

19.  In conformity with 29 U.S.C. §1132(h), Plaintiff served the initial Com-

plaint by certified mail on the Secretary of Labor and the Secretary of the Treasury.  

PARTIES  

20.  Plaintiff, Samina K. Yasmin, is a resident of the State of Wisconsin and 

currently resides in Greenfield, Wisconsin, and during the Class Period, was a par-

ticipant in the Plan under ERISA § 3(7), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(7).  

21.  Plaintiff had been a Machine Operator at their Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

location, from February 2021 through August 2022.  

22.  During the Class Period, Plaintiff invested in the 2035 Target Retire-

ment Date Fund. 
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23.  Plaintiff has Article III standing to bring this action on behalf of the 

Plan because she suffered actual injuries to her Plan account through paying exces-

sive RKA fees during the Class Period, those injuries are fairly traceable to Defend-

ants’ unlawful conduct in maintaining Alight as its recordkeeper, and the harm is 

likely to be redressed by a favorable judgment providing equitable relief to the Plain-

tiff and Class. 

24.  Having established Article III standing, Plaintiff may seek recovery un-

der 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(2), ERISA § 502(a)(2), on behalf of the Plan and for relief that 

sweeps beyond her own injuries. 

25.  The Plaintiff and all participants in the Plan did not have knowledge of 

all material facts (including, among other things, the excessive RKA fees and fiduci-

ary self-dealing) necessary to understand that Defendants breached their fiduciary 

duties and engaged in prohibited transactions until shortly before this suit was filed.  

26.  Having never managed a mega 401(k) Plan, meaning a plan with over 

$500 million dollars in assets, see Center for Retirement and Policy Studies, Retire-

ment Plan Landscape Report 18 (March 2022) (“Mega plans have more than $500 

million in assets”), Plaintiff, and all participants in the Plan, lacked actual knowledge 

of reasonable fee levels available to the Plan.  

27.  General Mills, Inc. (“General Mills”) makes over a hundred brands of 

food in over a hundred different countries. Its brands include Cheerios, Pillsbury, 

and Haagen-Dazs, and is headquartered in Minneapolis, Minnesota Number 1 Gen-

eral Mills Blvd., Minneapolis, MN 55426. In this Complaint, “General Mills” refers 
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to the named Defendants and all parent, subsidiary, related, predecessor, and suc-

cessor entities to which these allegations pertain.  

28.  General Mills acted through its officers, including the Board of Direc-

tors, to perform Plan-related fiduciary functions in the course and scope of their busi-

ness. General Mills and its Board appointed other Plan fiduciaries on the Benefits 

Finance Committee, and accordingly had a concomitant fiduciary duty to monitor 

and supervise those appointees. 

29.            For these reasons, General Mills and its Board are fiduciaries of the 

Plan, within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A).   

30.  The named administrative fiduciary for Plan is Christopher Brunson, 

who is the Vice President of Total Rewards at General Mill. The Benefits Finance 

Committee is the named financial fiduciary of the Plan. 

31.            As the Plan Administrators, Mr. Brunson and Benefits Finance Com-

mittee are fiduciaries with day-to-day administration and operation of the Plan un-

der 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A). Mr. Brunson and the Committee have authority and 

responsibility for the control, management, and administration of the Plan in accord 

with 29 U.S.C. § 1102(a), with all powers necessary to properly carry out such re-

sponsibilities.  

32.  The Plan is a Section 401(k) “defined contribution” pension plan under 

29 U.S.C. § 1002(34), meaning that General Mills’ contributions to the payment of 

Plan costs is guaranteed but the pension benefits are not. In a defined contribution 
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plan, the value of participants’ investments is “determined by the market perfor-

mance of employee and employer contributions, less expenses.” Tibble, 575 U.S. at 

525.  

33.  In 2020, the Plan had about $4,400,564,479 in assets entrusted to the 

care of the Plan’s fiduciaries. The Plan thus had substantial bargaining power re-

garding Plan fees and expenses. Defendants, however, did not regularly monitor 

Alight to ensure that Alight remained the prudent and objectively reasonable choice.  

34.  With 22,474 participants in 2020, the Plan had more participants than 

99.93% of the defined contribution Plans in the United States that filed 5500 forms 

for the 2020 Plan year. Similarly, with $4,400,564,479 in assets in 2020, the Plan had 

more assets than 99.96% of the defined contribution Plans in the United States that 

filed 5500 forms for the 2020 Plan year. 

ERISA’S FIDUCIARY STANDARDS IN THE  
DEFINED CONTRIBUTION INDUSTRY  

 

35.  Over the past three decades, defined contribution plans have become the 

most common employer-sponsored retirement plan. A defined contribution plan al-

lows employees to make pre-tax elective deferrals through payroll deductions to an 

individual account under a plan. An employer may also make matching contribution 

based on an employee’s elective deferrals.  

36. Employees with money in a plan are referred to as “participants” under 

ERISA Section 3(7), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(7).  

37. Although General Mills contributed significant amounts in employer 

matching contributions to Plan participants during the Class Period, these matching 
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contributions are irrelevant to whether a Plan has paid excessive plan recordkeeping 

fees or other types of Plan expenses.  

38. While contributions to a plan account and the earnings on investments 

will increase retirement income, fees and expenses paid by the plan may substantially 

reduce retirement income. Fees and expenses are a significant factor that affect plan 

participant’s investment returns and impact their retirement income.   

39. Employers must: (1) establish a prudent process for selecting invest-

ment options and service providers; (2) ensure that fees paid to service providers, like 

recordkeepers, are reasonable in light of the level and quality of services provided; 

and (3) monitor investment options and service providers once selected to make sure 

they continue to be prudent choices.  

Recordkeeping and Administration (“RKA”) Services   

40. Defined contribution plan fiduciaries of mega 401(k) plans hire service 

providers to deliver a retirement plan benefit to their employees. There is a group of 

national retirement plan services providers commonly and generically referred to as 

“recordkeepers,” that have developed bundled service offerings that can meet all the 

needs of mega retirement plans with a prudent and materially identical level and 

caliber of services. Alight is one such recordkeeper.  

41. These recordkeepers deliver all the essential recordkeeping and related 

administrative (“RKA”) services through standard bundled offerings of the materially 

identical level and quality as other recordkeepers who service mega plans.  
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42. The fees charged by recordkeepers for RKA services are impacted by 1) 

the costs of providing the RKA services; 2) the competitive environment related to 

what other recordkeepers would charge to provide materially identical services; and 

3) the revenues that a recordkeeper can generate from both the recordkeeping fees as 

well as other ancillary revenue based on the potential to manage proprietary invest-

ment options in the plan.   

43. Recordkeepers determine their willingness to accept fees for providing 

RKA services based on an evaluation of the potential profitability of a retirement plan 

services relationship.   

44. Providing RKA services involves both fixed and variable costs.  The more 

participants in a plan, the greater proportion of the costs are variable costs which, in 

turn, means the closer the average cost per participant approaches the variable cost 

per participant.   

45. All else being equal, the more participants a plan has, a recordkeeper 

will be able to provide a lower fee per participant to provide identical RKA services 

to maintain the same profit margin rate. 

46. As a result, it is axiomatic in the retirement plan services industry that 

the more participants in a plan, the lower the effective RKA fee per participant the 

plan can negotiate. All prudent plan fiduciaries and their consultants and advisors 

are aware of this industry dynamic.  

47. There are two types of essential RKA services provided by all record-

keepers. The first type, “Bundled RKA” services, include:  
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a. Recordkeeping;  
 

b. Transaction Processing (which includes the technology to process pur-
chases and sales of participants’ assets as well as providing the partici-
pants the access to investment options selected by the plan sponsor);  

 

c. Administrative Services related to converting a plan from one record-
keeper to another recordkeeper;  

 

d. Participant communications (including employee meetings, call cen-
ters/phone support, voice response systems, web account access, and the 
preparation of other communications to participants, e.g., Summary 
Plan descriptions and other participant materials);  

 

e. Maintenance of an employer stock fund;  

 

f. Plan Document Services which include updates to standard plan docu-
ments to ensure compliance with new regulatory and legal require-
ments; 

  

g. Plan consulting services including assistance in selecting the invest-
ments offered to participants;  

 

h. Accounting and audit services including the preparation of annual re-
ports, e.g., Form 5500;  

 

i. Compliance support which would include, e.g., assistance interpreting 
plan provisions and ensuring the operation of the plan follows legal re-
quirements and the provisions of the plan;  

 

j. Compliance testing to ensure the plan complies with Internal Revenue 
nondiscrimination rules; and  

 
k. Trustee / custodian services. 

 
48. The second type of essential RKA services, hereafter referred to as “A 

La Carte services,” provided by all recordkeepers, often have separate, additional fees 
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based on the conduct of individual participants and the usage of the service by indi-

vidual participants (usage fees). These “A La Carte RKA” services typically include 

the following:  

a. Loan processing;  
 

b. Brokerage services/account maintenance;  
 

c. Distribution services; and  
 

d. Processing of Qualified Domestic Relations Orders (QDROs).  
 

49. The sum of the total Bundled RKA fees plus the total A La Carte RKA 

fees equals the total RKA fees.   

50. As the retirement plan services industry evolved over the past forty-plus 

years, the recordkeepers have developed automated or semi-automated processes for 

providing the RKA services.   

51. In practice, there are no material difference between the services that 

are offered and provided by national recordkeepers.  Rather, some recordkeepers may 

differ in how they deliver the services.  

52. As an example, because the RKA offering are materially identical among 

all recordkeepers who provide services to large plans, like the General Mills plan, it 

is the standard and prevailing practice for retirement plan consultants and advisors 

(experts in the retirement plan industry) to request quotes by asking what the record-

keeper’s revenue requirement is on a per participant basis for providing the Bundled 

RKA services.   
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53. Similarly, in most cases differences in fee rates for the A La Carte ser-

vices are immaterial in determining the total fees charged by recordkeepers.  To the 

extent that some recordkeepers have charged higher fees for these services, when 

those recordkeepers are in a competitive situation (in which they may not win the 

business), they will reduce their A La Carte fee rates to be competitive with what 

others are charging. 

54. The same is true for the Bundled RKA fee rates charged by recordkeep-

ers. Retirement plan consultant and advisors primarily use the Bundled RKA fee rate 

of different recordkeepers to make fee rate comparisons and determine whether the 

Bundled RKA fee rate is reasonable. 

55. This approach is validated by the structure of the RFPs sent out by re-

tirement plan consultants and advisors and the responses provided by the record-

keepers and then the summary of the evaluations created by the retirement plan 

consultants and advisors. 

56. For mega plans, like the General Mills Plan, any immaterial variations 

in the way certain services are received by one plan compared to another plan have 

an immaterial impact on the reasonable market rate for Bundled RKA services.   

57. As a result, comparisons of the fees paid by similar sized plans are mean-

ingful and provide a reasonable basis for determining whether an inference of impru-

dence is warranted based on the RKA fees being paid by any specific plan. 
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58. Additionally, any minor variation in the level and quality of Bundled 

RKA services described above and provided by recordkeepers has little to no material 

impact on the fees charged by recordkeepers.   

59. Since well before 2015, industry experts have maintained that for mega 

retirement plans like the General Mills Plan, prudent fiduciaries treat Bundled RKA 

services as a commodity with little variation in price. “Custody and recordkeeping are 

‘commodity’ services. Like any commodity, given equal quality, the key benchmark 

for these services is price. The cheaper you can find competent custody and record-

keeping services, the better for participants.” Eric Droblyen, Evaluating 401(k) Pro-

viders: Separating Commodity from Value-Added Services, https://www.employeefi-

duciary.com/blog/evaluating-401k-providers-separating-commodity-value-added-ser-

vices (Feb. 10, 2015).  

60. Industry experts know that recordkeeping services have become a com-

modity for retirement plan fiduciaries; virtually every major recordkeeper provide the 

same core services. See, e.g., Allen Steinberg, Unchecked Revenue: Show Me the Fees, 

https://blog.retireaware.com/2018/01/12/unchecked-revenue/ (last visited Sep. 15, 

2022); Fred Barstein, Investment News, Potential Pru Retirement Sale a Cautionary 

Tale of a 401(k) Innovator, https://www.investmentnews.com/prudential-retirement-

sale-cautionary-tale-innovatio-205453 (Apr. 20, 2021) (“It is no wonder, but certainly 

disappointing, that one of the industry’s most innovative providers, Prudential Retire-

ment, is reportedly exploring a sale. That highlights how much record keeping has be-

come a commodity focused on scale and costs.”). 
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61. Fidelity, the largest 401k recordkeeper in the country, has conceded that 

the RKA services that it provides to mega Plans are commodified, including to its own 

Plan for its own employees.   

62. As part of stipulated facts in another case, it stated: “The value of the 

recordkeeping services that Fidelity provided to the Plan in 2014 was $21 per partic-

ipant; the value of the recordkeeping services that Fidelity provided to the Plan in 

2015 and 2016 was $17 per participant, per year, and the value of the recordkeeping 

services that Fidelity has provided to the Plan since January 1, 2017 is $14 per par-

ticipant, per year. Had the Plan been a third-party plan that negotiated a fixed fee 

for recordkeeping services at arm’s length with Fidelity it could have obtained record-

keeping services for these amounts during these periods. The Plan did not receive 

any broader or more valuable recordkeeping services from Fidelity than the services 

received by any other Fidelity-recordkept plan with at least $1 billion in assets during 

the Class Period (November 18, 2014 to the present).” See Moitoso v. FMR LLC, et 

al., 1:18-CV-12122-WGY, Stipulation of Facts, Dkt. 128-67, at 4-5 (D. Mass. Sep. 6, 

2019) (emphasis added). 

63. All recordkeepers quote fees for the Bundled RKA services on a per par-

ticipant basis without regard for any individual differences in services requested, 

which are treated by the recordkeepers as immaterial because they are inconsequen-

tial from a cost perspective to the delivery of the Bundled RKA services.   
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64. Because dozens of recordkeepers can provide the complete suite of re-

quired RKA services, plan fiduciaries can ensure that the services offered by each 

specific recordkeeper are apples-to-apples comparisons.  

65. Plan fiduciaries use the Bundled RKA fee rate as the best and most 

meaningful way to make apples-to-apples comparisons of the recordkeeping fee rates 

proposed by recordkeepers.   

66. Plan fiduciaries request bids from recordkeepers by asking what the 

recordkeeper’s Bundled RKA revenue requirement is to administer the plan.  

67. The General Mills Plan had a standard level of Bundled RKA services, 

providing recordkeeping and administrative services of a nearly identical level and 

quality to other recordkeepers who also serviced mega plans during the Class Period.   

68. There is nothing disclosed in the Participant section 404(a)(5) fee and 

service disclosure documents that suggests that the annual administrative fee 

charged to participants included any services that were unusual or above and beyond 

the standard recordkeeping and administrative services provided by all national 

recordkeepers to mega plans with more than $500,000,000 in assets.  

69. The General Mills 2021 404(a)(5) fee and service disclosure defines ad-

ministrative fees in pertinent part as “[f]ees paid to the recordkeeper to cover ex-

penses for services—recordkeeping, communication materials, Internet services, and 

assisting participants with transactions.”  

70. Accordingly, comparisons of the RKA fees and the Bundled RKA fee Rate 

of different, similarly sized plans can provide meaningful information to help a plan 
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fiduciary understand how its fees compare to a range of RKA fees without regard for 

minor and immaterial service level variation.  

71. By the start of, and during the entire Class Period, the level of fees that 

recordkeepers have been willing to accept for providing RKA has stabilized, and has 

not materially changed for mega plans, including the General Mills Plan. Reasonable 

recordkeeping fees paid in 2018 are representative of the reasonable fees during the 

entire Class Period. See The Economics of Providing 401(k) Plans: Services, Fees, and 

Expenses, 2020, ICI Research Perspective, at 4 (June 2021). 

72. The investment options selected by plan fiduciaries often have a portion 

of the total expense ratio allocated to the provision of recordkeeping performed by the 

recordkeepers on behalf of the investment manager.   

73. The General Mills 2021 404(a)(5) fee and service disclosure defines “as-

set-based fees” as “[f]ees that are charged as a percent of holdings in an investment 

to cover investment management fees plus any asset-based administrative service 

fees. Asset-based fees are also referred to as the expense ratio, or, more technically, 

the fund’s total annual operating expenses.” (emphasis added). 

74.  Recordkeepers often collect a portion of the total expense ratio fee of the 

mutual fund in exchange for providing services that would otherwise have to be pro-

vided by the mutual fund. These fees are known as “revenue sharing” or “indirect 

compensation.”   

75. The amount of compensation paid to recordkeepers must be reasonable 

(not the cheapest or the average in the market).   
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76. Reasonable, in turn, depends on contextually understanding the market 

for such RKA services at the time that the recordkeeping contract is entered into. 

THE PLAN  

77. During the entire Class Period, the Plan received recordkeeping services 

from Alight.  

78. At all relevant times, the Plan’s RKA fees were objectively unreasonable 

and excessive when compared with the fees paid by other comparable 401(k) plans 

that had similar numbers of plan participants.  

79. The fees were also excessive relative to the level and quality of RKA 

services received since the same level and quality of services are provided to all mega 

plans, like the General Mill Plan, any minor variation with respect to the use of com-

ponents of the standard offering 1) do not impact the Bundled RKA fee rates; and 2) 

are virtually always immaterial as it relates to the Total RKA fee rates and cannot 

reasonable explain the disparity between what the Plan paid and the market rate for 

the services received.  

80. This is true regardless of the specific service codes listed by the plan on 

the Form 5500.  See Droblyen, supra; Steinberg, supra; Barstein, supra.  For example, 

all recordkeepers provide communications to plan participants but Alight does not 

list service code “38 Participant communication” in the Plan’s Form 5500. 

81. These excessive Plan recordkeeping fees led to lower net returns than 

the rates enjoyed by participants in comparable 401(k) plans. 
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82. During the Class Period, Defendants breached their duty of prudence to 

the Plan, to Plaintiff, and all other Plan participants, by authorizing the Plan to pay 

objectively unreasonable fees for recordkeeping services.   

83. Defendants’ fiduciary mismanagement of the Plan, to the detriment of 

Plan participants and their beneficiaries, breached their fiduciary duties of prudence 

in violation of Section 404(a)(1)(B), 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B), and caused Plaintiff and 

members of the Class millions of dollars of harm to their Plan accounts. 

STANDARD OF CARE FOR PRUDENT FIDUCIARIES 
SELECTING & MONITORING RECORDKEEPERS 

84. Prudent plan fiduciaries ensure they are paying only reasonable fees for 

recordkeeping by engaging in an “independent evaluation,” see Hughes, 142 S. Ct. at 

742, and soliciting competitive bids from other recordkeepers to perform the same 

level and quality of services currently being provided to the Plan.  See, e.g., U.S. DE-

PARTMENT OF LABOR, Understanding Retirement Plan Fees and Expenses, at 6, 

https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/EBSA/about-ebsa/our-activities/resource-cen-

ter/publications/understanding-retirement-plan-fees-and-expenses.pdf (last visited 

Oct. 10, 2022) (“Once you have a clear idea of your requirements, you are ready to 

begin receiving estimates from prospective providers. Give all of them complete and 

identical information about your plan and the features you want so that you can make 

a meaningful comparison. This information should include the number of plan par-

ticipants and the amount of plan assets as of a specified date.”) 

85. Prudent plan fiduciaries can easily receive a quote from other record-

keepers to determine if their current level of recordkeeping fees is reasonable in light 
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of the level and quality of recordkeeper fees. It is not a cumbersome or expensive 

process.   

86. It is the standard of care prevailing among industry experts to solicit 

competitive bids every three to five years. See CAPTRUST, Understanding and Evalu-

ating Retirement Plan Fees | Part One: A Holistic Approach, https://www.cap-

trust.com/understanding-and-evaluating-retirement-plan-fees-part-one-a-holistic-

approach/ (stating “best practice is . . . a more formal recordkeeper search and selec-

tion process conducted approximately every three to five years. Recordkeeping and 

administrative fees should be evaluated and compared to plans of similar size and 

type that are receiving analogous services. While each plan is unique—making an 

apples-to-apples comparison imperfect—evaluating fees against similarly situated 

and sized plans provides a good reference point in helping to determine if plan fees 

are reasonable.”). 

87. Having received bids, prudent plan fiduciaries can negotiate with their 

current recordkeeper for a lower fee or move to a new recordkeeper to provide the 

same (or better) level and qualities of services for a more competitive reasonable fee 

if necessary.   

88. A benchmarking survey alone is inadequate. Such surveys skew to 

higher “average prices,” that favor inflated recordkeeping fees. To receive a truly “rea-

sonable” recordkeeping fee in the prevailing market, prudent plan fiduciaries engage 

in solicitations of competitive bids on a regular basis. 
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89. Prudent fiduciaries implement three related processes to prudently 

manage and control a plan’s recordkeeping costs. Tussey v. ABB, Inc., 746 F.3d 327, 

336 (8th Cir. 2014).  

90. First, a hypothetical prudent fiduciary tracks the recordkeeper’s ex-

penses by demanding documents that summarize and contextualize the record-

keeper’s compensation, such as fee transparencies, fee analyses, fee summaries, re-

lationship pricing analyses, cost-competitiveness analyses, and multi-practice and 

standalone pricing reports.  

91. Second, to make an informed evaluation as to whether a recordkeeper is 

receiving no more than a reasonable fee for the quality and level of services provided 

to a plan, prudent hypothetical fiduciaries must identify all fees, including direct com-

pensation and revenue sharing being paid to the plan’s recordkeeper.   

92. Third, a hypothetical plan fiduciary must remain informed about overall 

trends in the marketplace regarding the fees being paid by other plans, as well as the 

recordkeeping rates that are available. By soliciting bids from other recordkeepers, a 

prudent plan fiduciary can quickly and easily gain an understanding of the current 

market for the same level and quality of recordkeeping services.   

93. Accordingly, the only way to determine the reasonable, as opposed to the 

cheapest or average, market price for a given quality and level of recordkeeping ser-

vices is to obtain competitive bids from other providers in the market. 
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PLAN FIDUCIARIES DID NOT EFFECTIVELY MONITOR 

BUNDLED RKA FEES AND THE PLAN THUS PAID 

UNREASONABLE BUNDLED RKA FEES 

 
94. A plan fiduciary must continuously monitor its RKA fees by regularly 

conducting an independent evaluation of those fee to ensure they are reasonable and 

remove recordkeepers if those fees are unreasonable. See Hughes, 142 S. Ct. at 742. 

95. During the Class Period, Defendants failed to regularly monitor the 

Plan’s Bundled RK&A fees paid to recordkeepers, including but not limited to Alight.  

96. During the Class Period, Defendants failed to regularly solicit quotes 

and/or competitive bids from recordkeepers, including but not limited to Alight, in 

order to avoid paying unreasonable Bundled RK&A fees.  

97. During the Class Period, and unlike a hypothetical prudent fiduciary, 

Defendants followed a fiduciary process that was ineffective given the objectively un-

reasonable RKA fees it paid to Alight and in light of the level and quality of RKA 

services it received.  

98. As set forth in the table below, from the years 2016 through 2020, based 

upon information provided by the Plan fiduciaries to Plan participants in the 2021 

General Mills 404(a)(5) participant fee disclosures provided to Plaintiff, the Plan paid 

an effective average annual Bundled RKA fee of $90 per participant, based on 0.05% 

on fee disclosure regarding target date funds in the Annual QDIA Notice. These 

amounts are calculated by the Plan’s Form 5500 filings and indicate the total RKA 
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fees (the sum of the Bundled RKA fees and the A La Carte RKA fees).1 

Recordkeeping and Administration Services (RKA) Fees 

  2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Average 

Participants 20,107 19,894 20,043 21,103 22,474 20,724 

Est. RKA Fees $1,728,687 $1,864,906 $1,620,551 $1,934,516 $2,200,282 $1,869,789 

Est. RKA Per Participant $86 $94 $81 $92 $98 $90 

 

99.        From the years 2016 through 2020, based upon information derived from 

the 404(a)(5) participant fee disclosure documents provided to participants in simi-

larly sized plans as well as publicly available information reported on 5500 forms and 

the accompanying financial statements, the table and graph below illustrate that a 

hypothetical prudent plan fiduciary would have paid on average an effective annual 

Bundled RKA fee of around $25 per participant for a materially identical level and 

quality of Bundled RKA services, if not lower.  

Comparable Plans' Bundled RKA Fee Rates 

Plan 

Partici-

pants Assets 

Bun-

dled 

RK&A 

Fee 

Rate ($ 

/pp) 

Record-

keeper 

Trinity Health 403(B) Retirement Savings 

Plan 1,501 $429,131,672 $30 Fidelity 

JBS 401(K) Savings Plan 14,255 $311,864,034 $20 Empower 

Team Health 401(k) 17,585 $1,144,142,462 $25 Schwab 

General Mills Plan Average Fee 20,724 $3,739,577,208 $90 Aon/Alight 

Beaumont Health 403(b) Plan 36,916 $2,098,360,517 $28 Fidelity 

General Dynamics Corporation 401(K) Plan  45,018 $8,193,372,264 $25 Fidelity 

 

1 “Est. RKA Fees” on the above chart are taken directly from the audited Financial State-
ments attached to the General Mills 401(k) Plan Form 5500s. The amounts are recorded as 
“Administrative expenses” on the Statements of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits 
which are audited by KPMG an independent registered public accounting firm.   
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100. The trend line (dashed white in the graph above) generated from these 

data points represent a reasonable estimate of the fee rate that several recordkeepers 

serving the mega market would be willing to accept in a competitive environment to 

provide Bundled RKA services to the Plan. 

101. From the years 2016 through 2020 and based upon information derived 

from 404(a)(5) participant fee disclosure documents provided to participants in simi-

larly sized plans as well as publicly available information reported on 5500 forms and 

the accompanying financial statements, as compared to other Plans of similar sizes 

receiving a materially identical level and quality of Bundled RKA services, had De-

fendants been acting in the exclusive best interest of the Plan’s participants, the Plan 

actually would have paid significantly less than an average of approximately 
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$1,869,789 per year in Bundled RK&A fees, which equated to an effective average of 

approximately $25 per participant per year. 

102. From the years 2016 through 2020 and based upon information derived 

from the 404(a)(5) participant fee disclosure documents provided to participants in 

similarly sized plans as well as publicly available information reported on 5500 forms 

and the accompanying financial statements, as compared to other Plans of similar 

sizes receiving a materially identical level and quality of Bundled RKA services, had 

Defendants been acting in the best interests of the Plan’s participants, the Plan ac-

tually would have paid on average a reasonable effective annual market rate for Bun-

dled RKA of approximately $518,105 per year, which equates to approximately $25 

per participant per year. During the entirety of the Class Period, a hypothetical pru-

dent plan Fiduciary would not agree to pay more than three times what they could 

otherwise pay for the materially identical level and quality of Bundled RKA services. 

103. From the years 2016 through 2020 and based upon information derived 

from 404(a)(5) participant fee disclosures, and publicly available information re-

ported on 5500 forms and the accompanying financial statements which was equally 

or even more easily available to Defendants during the Class Period, the Plan addi-

tionally cost its participants on average approximately $1,351,684 per year in unrea-

sonable and excessive Bundled RKA fees, which equates to, on average, approxi-

mately $65 per participant per year. 
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104. From the years 2016 to 2020, and because Defendants did not act with 

prudence, and as compared to other plans of similar sizes and with a materially iden-

tical level and quality of services, the Plan actually cost its participants a total mini-

mum amount of approximately $6,758,418 in unreasonable and excessive Bundled 

RK&A fees. 

105. From the years 2016 to 2020, based upon information derived from 

404(a)(5) participant fee disclosures, and publicly available information reported on 

5500 forms and the accompanying financial statements, because Defendants did not 

act prudently, and as compared to other Plans of similar sizes and with a materially 

identical level and quality of services, the Plan caused Plan Participants to suffer 

Losses (when accounting for compounding percentages/lost market investment op-

portunity) a total cumulative amount in excess of $9,305,111 in Bundled RKA fees. 

106. Although the United States Supreme Court noted in Hughes that "[a]t 

times, the circumstances facing an ERISA fiduciary will implicate difficult tradeoffs, 

and courts must give due regard to the range of reasonable judgments a fiduciary 

may make based on her experience and expertise," Hughes, 142 S. Ct. at 742, no rea-

sonable tradeoffs existed here because recordkeepers for mega plans are providing 

the exact same level and quality of services.  

107. Defendants failed to take advantage of the Plan’s size to timely negoti-

ate lower fees from its existing recordkeepers, Alight, and Defendants could have ob-

tained the same Bundled RKA services for less from other, similar recordkeepers. 
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108. Plaintiff paid these excessive Bundled RKA fees in the form of direct and 

indirect compensation to the Plan and suffered injuries to her Plan account as a re-

sult. 

109. Plaintiff has participated in several 401(k) plans from other employers 

and there have been no material differences in the services that she has received. 

110. Plaintiff does not need to provide examples of similar plans receiving 

the same services in the same year where the primary drivers of price in large plans 

are the number of accounts and whether the plan's fiduciaries solicited competitive 

bids, rather than the marginal cost of recordkeeping for each participant.”  See Coyer 

et al. v. Univar Solutions USA Inc. et al., 2022 WL 4534791, at *5 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 28, 

2022) (emphasis in original). 

111. “The fact that each of the other similarly-sized plans were receiving at 

least the same services for less provides the kind of circumstantial evidence sufficient 

to create an inference of imprudence.” Id. (citing Sweda v. Univ. of Pennsylvania, 923 

F.3d 320, 332 (3d Cir. 2019)) (emphasis in original). 

112. During the entirety of the Class Period, and unlike a hypothetical pru-

dent fiduciary, Defendants did not engage in any regular and/or reasonable examina-

tion and competitive comparison of the Bundled RKA fees it paid to Alight vis-à-vis 

the fees that other RKA providers would charge, and would have accepted, for the 

same level and quality of services. 
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113. During the entirety of the Class Period, Defendants knew or had 

knowledge that it must engage in regular and/or reasonable examination and com-

petitive comparison of the Plan’s Bundled RKA fees it paid to Alight, but Defendants 

either simply failed to do so, or did so ineffectively, given that it paid two and half 

times the Bundled RKA fees than it should have. 

114. During the entirety of the Class Period, and had Defendants engaged in 

regular and/or reasonable examination and competitive comparison of the Bundled 

RKA fees it paid to Alight, it would have realized that the Plan was compensating 

Alight unreasonably and inappropriately for its size and scale, passing these objec-

tively unreasonable and excessive fee burdens to Plaintiff and Plan participants, and 

therefore should have removed Alight as Plan recordkeeper.  

115. The Plan recordkeeping fees were also excessive relative to the record-

keeping services received, since the quality and level of such services are standard 

for mega 401(k) and 403(b) plans like this Plan and are provided on an “all-you-can-

eat-basis,” based primarily on the number of participants a plan has. Any difference 

in recordkeeping fees between comparable Plans is not explained by the level and 

quality of services each recordkeeper provides.  

116. The market for Bundled RKA services for mega plans, like the General 

Mills Plan, is such that all national recordkeepers can provide all the required ser-

vices that a mega plan might need. Any differences in the quality or scope of the 

services delivered are immaterial to the difference between what the Plan paid for 
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Bundled RKA services and what he reasonable fair market fee was for identical ser-

vices. 

117. During the entirety of the Class Period and by failing to recognize that 

the Plan and its participants were being charged much higher Bundled RKA fees 

than they should have been and/or by failing to take effective remedial actions in-

cluding removing Alight as the Plan recordkeeper, Defendants breached their fiduci-

ary duty of prudence to Plaintiff and Plan participants, causing tens of millions of 

dollars of harm to Plaintiff and Class Member’s retirement accounts. 

SELF DEALING 
 

118.   General Mills is a fiduciary to the Plan because it exercises discretion-

ary authority, responsibility, and control over the management and administration 

of the Plan and exercises authority and control over Plan assets. 

119.    Based on publicly available DOL 5500 Forms, General Mills paid itself 

for providing “plan administration” services to the Plan. Specifically, based on infor-

mation provided by General Mills in its 5500 filings, the following amounts were paid 

out of plan assets to itself from 2016 through 2020: 

General Mills 401(K) Plan Form 5500 Schedule C - Direct Compensation 

Provider Relationship 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Total 

GENERAL 

MILLS, INC. 

PLAN ADMINIS-

TRATOR 
$662,161 $671,706 $510,160 $380,983 $413,456 $2,638,466 

 

 
120. The “plan administration” services purportedly provided to the Plan by 

General Mills did not provide any value to the Plan and did not warrant the payment 

of the fees to itself. 
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121. The “plan administration” services purportedly provided to the Plan by 

General Mills are standard “plan administration” services that were provided already 

by the Plan’s recordkeeper, Alight.  

122. Alight is listed as being paid under service code 64 on the 2020 5500 

Form for “recordkeeping fees.”  

123. On the other hand, General Mills paid itself over $2.6 million dollars 

during the Class Period as the “Plan Administrator” under Service Code 65 for “Ac-

count maintenance fees,” which almost no mega plans do.1 

124. There is significant overlap between recordkeeping services, which ac-

cording to the 2021 General Mills Annual Fee Disclosure is a part of “administrative 

expenses” and includes “recordkeeping, communication materials, Internet services, 

and assisting participants with transactions,” and “account maintenance fees,” which 

are defined by the Department of Labor as sometimes being “used to cover adminis-

trative expenses.” See A Look at Plan Fees, U.S. Department of Labor, at 4, available 

at https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/ebsa/about-ebsa/our-activities/resource-cen-

ter/publications/a-look-at-401k-plan-fees.pdf (last visited Oct. 14, 2022). 

 

1 There are 1,537 defined contribution retirement plans with between 20,000 and 40,000 par-
ticipants. There are only 20 plans, or 1.3% of the 1,537 that have included service code 14 as 
a service that was paid for through direct or indirect compensation to a service provider even 
though every single one of the 1,537 has to have a plan administrator. Only 6 of those 1,537 
plans, or 0.39%, appear to be scenarios similar to The Lilly Plan in which the plan sponsor is 
being paid direct or indirect compensation from the plan for Plan Administrator (service code 
14) services. See Form 5500 Datasets | U.S. Department of Labor (dol.gov), 
https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ebsa/about-ebsa/our-activities/public-disclosure/foia/form-
5500-datasets (last visited Oct. 7, 2022). 
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125. General Mills’ payment of these redundant fees to itself out of plan as-

sets represents self-dealing and a clear conflict of interest with the Plan and Plan 

participants and violates the duty of loyalty it owes to Plan participants under ERISA 

Section 404(a)(1)(A); 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(A). 

126. The payments to itself of these RKA fees constitute a fiduciary prohib-

ited transaction by General Mills as a fiduciary to the Plan. ERISA Section 406(b), 

29 U.S.C. §1106(b)(1). 

127. General Mills is obligated to disgorge to the Plan all amounts it received 

and must make good to the Plan all losses the Plan suffered from being deprived of 

those assets, namely, the gains the Plan would have earned had those amounts been 

restored to the Plan. ERISA Section 409(a), 29 U.S.C. §1109(a). 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS  

128.  29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(2) authorizes any participant or beneficiary of the 

Plan to bring an action individually on behalf of the Plan to enforce a breaching fidu-

ciary’s liability to the Plan under 29 U.S.C. § 1109(a).  

129. In acting in this representative capacity, Plaintiff seeks to certify this 

action as a class action on behalf of all participants and beneficiaries of the Plan. 

Plaintiff seeks to certify, and to be appointed as representative of, the following Class:  

All participants and beneficiaries of the General Mills 401(k) Plan 
(excluding the Defendants or any participant/beneficiary who is a 
fiduciary to the Plan) beginning October 14, 2016, and running 
through the date of judgment.  
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130. The Class includes approximately 21,000 members and is so large that 

joinder of all its members is impracticable, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Proce-

dure 23(a)(1). 

131. There are questions of law and fact common to this Class pursuant to 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a)(2), because Defendants owed fiduciary duties 

to the Plan and took the actions and omissions alleged as the Plan and not as to any 

individual participant. Common questions of law and fact include but are not limited 

to the following:  

a. Whether Defendants are fiduciaries liable for the remedies provided by 
29 U.S.C. § 1109(a);  

b. Whether Defendants breached their fiduciary duties to the Plan;  

c. What are the losses to the Plan resulting from each breach of fiduciary 
duty; and   

d. Whether Defendants engaged in a fiduciary prohibited transaction when 
it engaged in self-dealing; and   

e. What Plan-wide equitable and other relief the Court should impose in 
light of Defendants’ breach of fiduciary duty and engaging in prohibited 
transactions. 

132. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class pursuant to Fed-

eral Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a)(3), because Plaintiff was a Participant during the 

time period at issue and all Participants in the Plan were harmed by Defendants’ 

misconduct.  

133. Plaintiff will adequately represent the Class pursuant to Federal Rule 

of Civil Procedure 23(a)(4), because she is a participant in the Plan during the Class 

period, has no interest that conflicts with the Class, is committed to the vigorous 
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representation of the Class, and has engaged experienced and competent lawyers to 

represent the Class.  

134. Certification is appropriate under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

23(b)(1), because prosecution of separate actions for these breaches of fiduciary duties 

by individual participants and beneficiaries would create the risk of (1) inconsistent 

or varying adjudications that would establish incompatible standards of conduct for 

Defendant concerning its discharge of fiduciary duties to the Plan and personal lia-

bility to the Plan under 29 U.S.C. § 1109(a), and (2) adjudications by individual par-

ticipants and beneficiaries regarding these breaches of fiduciary duties and remedies 

for the Plan would, as a practical matter, be dispositive of the interests of the partic-

ipants and beneficiaries who are not parties to the adjudication, or would substan-

tially impair those participants’ and beneficiaries’ ability to protect their interests.  

135. Certification is also appropriate under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

23(b)(2) because Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds that apply gen-

erally to the Class, so that final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief 

is appropriate respecting the class as a whole.  

136. Plaintiff’s attorneys are experienced in complex ERISA and class litiga-

tion and will adequately represent the Class. 

137. The claims brought by the Plaintiff arises from fiduciary breaches and 

prohibited transactions as to the Plan in its entirety and does not involve misman-

agement of individual accounts.  
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138. The claims asserted on behalf of the Plans in this case fall outside the 

scope of any exhaustion language in individual participants’ Plans. Exhaustion is in-

tended to serve as an administrative procedure for participants and beneficiaries 

whose claims have been denied and not where a participant or beneficiary brings suit 

on behalf of a Plan for breaches of fiduciary duty.  

139. Under ERISA, an individual “participant” or “beneficiary” is distinct 

from an ERISA Plan. A participant’s obligation – such as a requirement to exhaust 

administrative remedies – does not, by itself, bind the Plan.  

140. Moreover, any administrative appeal would be futile because the entity 

hearing the appeal (the Plan Administrator) is the same Plan Administrator that 

made the decisions that are at issue in this lawsuit. Policy supporting exhaustion of 

administrative remedies in certain circumstances – that the Court should review and 

where appropriate defer to a Plan administrator’s decision – does not exist here be-

cause courts will not defer to Plan administrator’s legal analysis and interpretation.  

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF  
Breach of Duty of Prudence of ERISA, as Amended  

(Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and Class, Against Defendants Brunson and  

Committee Defendants – RKA Fees)  

  
141. Plaintiff restates the above allegations as if fully set forth herein.  
 
142. Defendants Brunson and Committee are fiduciaries of the Plan under 

29 U.S.C. §§ 1002(21) and/or 1102(a)(1).  

143. 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B) imposes a fiduciary duty of prudence upon De-

fendants Brunson and Committee in their administration of the Plan.  
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144. Defendants Brunson and Committee, as fiduciaries of the Plan, are re-

sponsible for selecting a recordkeeper that charges objectively reasonable RKA fees.  

145. During the Class Period, Defendants Brunson and Committee had a fi-

duciary duty to do all of the following: ensure that the Plan’s RKA fees were objec-

tively reasonable; defray reasonable expenses of administering the Plan; and act with 

the care, skill, diligence, and prudence required by ERISA.  

146. During the Class Period, Defendants Brunson and Committee breached 

their fiduciary duty of prudence to Plan participants, including to Plaintiff, by failing 

to: ensure that the Plan’s RKA fees were objectively reasonable, defray reasonable 

expenses of administering the Plan, and act with the care, skill, diligence, and pru-

dence required by ERISA. 

147. During the Class Period, Defendants Brunson and Committee further 

had a continuing duty to regularly monitor and evaluate the Plan’s recordkeeper, 

Alight, to make sure it was providing the RKA services at reasonable costs, given the 

highly competitive market surrounding recordkeeping and the significant bargaining 

power the Plan had to negotiate the best fees, and remove the recordkeeper if it pro-

vided recordkeeping services at objectively unreasonable levels.  

148. During the Class Period, Defendants Brunson and Committee breached 

their duty to Plan participants, including to Plaintiff, by failing to employ a prudent 

process and by failing to evaluate the cost of the Plan’s recordkeeper critically or ob-

jectively in comparison to other recordkeeper options.  
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149. Defendants Brunson and Committee’s failure to discharge their duties 

with respect to the Plan with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the cir-

cumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and famil-

iar with such matters would have used in the conduct of an enterprise of like charac-

ter and with like aims, breaching its duties under 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B).   

150. As a result of Defendants Brunson and Committee’s breach of fiduciary 

duty of prudence with respect to the Plan, the Plaintiff and Plan participants suffered 

tens of millions of dollars in objectively unreasonable and unnecessary monetary 

losses.  

151. Defendants Brunson and Committee are liable under 29 U.S.C. §§ 

1109(a) and 1132(a)(2) to make good to the General Mills Plan the losses resulting 

from the breaches, to restore to the Plan any profits Defendants made through the 

use of Plan assets, and to restore to the Plan any profits resulting from the breaches 

of fiduciary duties alleged in this Count. In addition, Defendants Brunson and Com-

mittee are subject to other equitable relief as set forth in the Prayer for Relief.  

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF  

Failure to Adequately Monitor Other Fiduciaries under ERISA, as Amended  

(Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and Class, Against Defendants  
General Mills and Board – RKA Fees)  

  

152. Plaintiff restates the above allegations as if fully set forth herein.  

153. Defendants General Mills and Board had the authority to appoint and 

remove members or individuals responsible for Plan RKA fees on the Committee and 

knew or should have known that these fiduciaries had critical responsibilities for the 

Plan.  
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154. In light of this authority, Defendants General Mills and Board had a 

duty to monitor those individuals responsible for Plan RKA fees on the Committees 

to ensure that they were adequately performing their fiduciary obligations, and to 

take prompt and effective action to protect the Plan in the event that these individu-

als were not fulfilling those duties.  

155. Defendants General Mills and Board had a duty to ensure that the indi-

viduals responsible for Plan RKA fees possessed the needed qualifications and expe-

rience to carry out their duties (or use qualified advisors and service providers to 

fulfill their duties); had adequate financial resources and information; maintained 

adequate records of the information on which they based their decisions and analysis 

with respect to the Plan’s RKA fees; and reported regularly to Defendant General 

Mills and Board. 

156. The objectively unreasonable and excessive RKA fees paid by the Plan 

inferentially establish that Defendants General Mills and Board breached their duty 

to monitor by, among other things:  

a. Failing to monitor and evaluate the performance of individuals 
responsible for Plan RKA fees on the Committees or have a sys-
tem in place for doing so, standing idly by as the Plan suffered 
significant losses in the form of objectively unreasonably RKA ex-
penses;  

 
b. Failing to monitor the process by which the Plan’s recordkeeper, 

Alight, was evaluated and failing to investigate the availability of 
more reasonably-priced recordkeepers; and  

 
c. Failing to remove individuals responsible for Plan RKA fees on 

the Committees whose performance was inadequate in that these 
individuals continued to pay the same RKA costs even though so-
licitation of competitive bids would have shown that maintaining 
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Alight as the recordkeeper at the contracted price was imprudent, 
excessively costly, all to the detriment of the Plaintiff’s and other 
Plan participants’ retirement savings.  

 
157. As the consequences of the breaches of the duty to monitor for RKA fees 

the Plaintiff and Plan participants suffered tens of millions of dollars of objectively 

unreasonable and unnecessary monetary losses.  

158. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §§1109(a) and 1132(a)(2), Defendants General 

Mills and Board are liable to restore to the General Mills Plan all losses caused by 

their failure to adequately monitor individuals responsible for Plan RKA fees on the 

Committee. In addition, Plaintiff is entitled to equitable relief and other appropriate 

relief as set forth in the Prayer for Relief.  

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Fiduciary Prohibited Transactions under ERISA, as Amended,  

And Breach of Duty of Loyalty of ERISA, as Amended 
(Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and Class, Against Defendant General Mills) 

159. Under ERISA Section 404(a)(1)(A), “a fiduciary shall discharge his du-

ties with respect to a plan solely in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries 

and—(A) for the exclusive purpose of: (i) providing benefits to participants and their 

beneficiaries; and (ii) defraying reasonable expenses of administering the plan.” 29 

U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(A). 

160. Under ERISA Section 406(b)(1), “[a] fiduciary with respect to 

a plan shall not— (1) deal with the assets of the plan in his own interest or for his 

own account.” 29 U.S.C. § 1106(b)(1). 

161. Defendant General Mills, as fiduciary to the Plan, did not discharge its 

duties with respect to the Plan solely in the interest of Plan participant benefits and 
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for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants and their beneficiaries, 

instead engaging in self-dealing and unlawfully paying itself from plan assets, for 

“plan administrator” services that were already being provided by Alight. 

162. The Bundled RKA fee charged by Alight is unreasonable because Gen-

eral Mills was providing services that would typically be provided as part of the 

recordkeeper’s service offerings. The reasonable Bundled RKA fee should have been 

reduced by the dollar amounts paid to General Mills since General Mills was purport-

edly providing some of these “plan administrator” services typically provided by the 

Plan’s recordkeeper. 

163. Defendant General Mills dealt with the assets of the Plan in its own 

interest and for its own account by diverting plan assets to itself instead of using the 

plan assets for the exclusive benefit of Plan participants. ERISA Section 406(b)(1); 29 

U.S.C. §1106(b)(1), thereby breaching its duty of loyalty to the Plan. 

164. The payments to itself for purported “plan administrator” service pur-

poses constitute a fiduciary prohibited transaction by General Mills as a fiduciary to 

the Plan because General Mills dealt with the assets of the plan for its own interest 

and for its own account. 

165. General Mills is obligated to disgorge to the Plan all amounts it received 

and must make good to the Plan all losses the Plan suffered from being deprived of 

those assets, namely, the gains the Plan would have earned had those amounts been 

CASE 0:22-cv-02572-PJS-JFD   Doc. 1   Filed 10/14/22   Page 39 of 41



restored to the Plan. 29 U.S.C. §1109(a); Barboza v. California Assn. of Prof. Fire-

fighters, 799 F.3d 1257, 1269 (9th Cir. 2015); Hi-Lex Controls, Inc. v. Blue Cross Blue 

Shield of Michigan, 751 F.3d 740, 750 (6th Cir. 2014). 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that judgment be entered against Defendants 

on all claims and requests that the Court award the following relief:  

A. A determination that this action may proceed as a class action under 
Rule 23(b)(1), or in the alternative Rule 23(b)(2), of the Federal Rules of 
Civil Procedure;  
  

B. Designation of Plaintiff as Class Representative and designation of 
Plaintiff’s counsel as Class Counsel;  

 
C. A Declaration the Defendants have breached their fiduciary duties un-

der ERISA;   
  

D. An Order compelling the Defendants to make good to the Plan all losses 
to the Plan resulting from Defendants’ breaches of fiduciary duty, in-
cluding restoring to the Plan all losses resulting from paying unreason-
able RKA fees and for engaging in self-dealing, and restoring to the Plan 
all profits the Defendants made through use of the Plan’s assets, and 
restoring to the Plan all profits which the Participants would have made 
if the Defendants had fulfilled their fiduciary obligations;   
  

E. An Order requiring General Mills to disgorge all profits received from, 
or in respect of, the Plan, and/or equitable relief pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 
1132(a)(3) in the form of an accounting for profits, imposition of con-
structive trust, or surcharge against General Mills as necessary to effec-
tuate relief, and to prevent General Mills’ unjust enrichment;   
  

F. An Order enjoining Defendants from any further violation of their 
ERISA fiduciary responsibilities, obligations, and duties;   
  

G. Other equitable relief to redress Defendants’ illegal practices and to en-
force the provisions of ERISA as may be appropriate, including appoint-
ment of an independent fiduciary/consultant or fiduciaries to run the 
Plan and removal of plan fiduciaries deemed to have breached their fi-
duciary duties;  
  

H. An award of pre-judgment interest;   
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I. An award of attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 1132(g) 

and the common fund doctrine; and  
  

J. Such other and further relief as the Court deems equitable and just.  
   

 
 Respectfully submitted, 

 
Date: October 14, 2022 MILLER & STEVENS, P.A. 
 
 By: s/ Amy R. Mason  
 Amy R. Mason, Esq. (#0347760)  

92 Lake Street S.  
Forest Lake, MN 55025 
Telephone: (651) 462-0206 
amy@millerstevens.com 

 
Paul M. Secunda 
(pro hac vice motion pending) 
WALCHESKE & LUZI, LLC 
235 N. Executive Dr., Suite 240 
Brookfield, Wisconsin 53005 
Telephone: (414) 828-2372 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff and Proposed Class 
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